WOOA

047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

/ SID J. WHITE

DEC 2 7 1996

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

LARRY CHRISTIAN,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 88,781

#### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS

TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,

CRIMINAL APPEALS

FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

GISELLE LYLEN RIVERA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0508012

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First

District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the

trial court, will be referenced in this brief as the State,

Respondent, Larry Christian, the Appellant in the First District

Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be

referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The symbol "R" will refer to the record on appeal, and the symbol "T" will refer to the transcript of the trial court's proceedings. Each symbol will be followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Constitution. The Court has accepted briefing on the merits based upon the existence of conflict between the decision below and Lifred v. State, 643 So. 2d 94 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form [hereinafter

referenced as "slip op."] in Larry Lee Christian v. State, slip op. Case No. 95-67, August 15, 1996. It also can be found at 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1835 (August 15, 1996).

The facts, as set forth in that opinion, establish the following:

Appellant, Larry Lee Christian, appeals his conviction of the crime of second-degree murder, and the consecutive mandatory minimum firearm sentences imposed in connection with offenses committed during the same criminal episode. The issues presented for review are: (1) the legal sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the conviction of second-degree murder, (2) the limitation of expert testimony as to appellant's state of mind during the relevant time period, and (3) the imposition of consecutive mandatory minimum firearm sentences. We affirm in part and reverse in part.

The charges here at issue arose in the context of an altercation at the Inferno Club in Perry, Florida, on the evening of February 14, 1994. Appellant, then aged sixteen, accompanied his twenty-year-old brother, Wesley, to the club. While appellant was dancing, appellant's brother Wesley and victim, Chad Ellis, engaged in an argument which quickly escalated into physical violence, The evidence indicated that the victim, Chad Ellis, threw the first punch, and was getting the better of appellant's brother up until the point at which appellant intervened. At some point, appellant approached the combatants and shot Ellis three times in the back. Ellis died shortly thereafter.' Thereafter, Pedro Bishop, the second shooting victim, hit appellant. Appellant struck Bishop on the head with the gun butt, whereupon Bishop

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The medical examiner testified that only one of the shots was fatal, but it was impossible to determine the sequence of the fatal shot, i.e., it could not be determined whether the first, second, or third shot was the actual cause of Ellis' death.

fell to his knees, and wrapped his arms around appellant's legs. At that point, appellant fired the gun downward two more times. Keith Hampton tussled with appellant for possession of the gun and Dennis August approached with an upraised chair. Hampton ducked as August threw the chair, releasing his grasp on appellant. Appellant then ran from the club, leaving the gun on the floor. Slip Op. pages 2-3.

The First District Court affirmed issues one and two, but reversed the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory firearm sentences based in part, upon <u>Lifred v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 94 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), stating that:

[a]s his third issue, appellant contends that the trial court erred in imposing consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for use of a firearm for crimes which occurred during a single episode. We agree. It is improper to impose consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for use of a firearm in connection with multiple crimes committed in the course of one criminal episode. State v. Thomas, 487 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 1986); Permenter v. State, 635 So. 2d 1016, 1017 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Gardner v. State, 515 so. 2d 408 (Fla. 1st DCA In <u>Thomas</u>, the supreme court carved an exception to the general rule announced in Palmer v, State, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983), to hold that consecutive minimum mandatory sentences pursuant to section 775.087(2), Florida Statutes, may be imposed for offenses which arise from separate incidents occurring at separate times and places. <u> Seel s o</u> Lifred v. State, 643 So. 2d 94, 99 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

The evidence in this case shows the firearm was used in the commission of two separate offenses against two separate victims. However, there was no temporal break between the offenses, and the offenses were not committed in different locations. Thomas has been construed as prohibiting consecutive minimum mandatory sentences absent proof of separate offenses against

separate victims, committed at separate times and places. Therefore, the consecutive firearm sentences imposed in this case must be reversed and remanded for resentencing.
Slip Op. at 7.

In her specially concurring opinion, Judge Booth wrote that "the law on this issue is correctly stated in <u>Lifred v. State</u>, 643 So. 2d 94 (Fla. 4th <u>DCA</u> 1994) (interpreting <u>Thomas</u>; en banc). In the absence of this court's prior decisions, I would follow <u>Lifred</u> and affirm Appellant's sentences." Slip Op. at 9.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I.

This Court should resolve the conflict at issue by adopting the decision in <u>Lifred</u> and reversing the lower court's decision in the instant case. In so doing, this Court should carry recent decisions in this area to their logical conclusion and take this opportunity to definitively clarify the law by holding that F.S. 775.021(4) and 921.16(1) specifically authorize the imposition of separate convictions and sentences for separate criminal offenses in a consecutive manner even if they occur during a single criminal episode regardless of whether the convictions carry with them minimum mandatory or enhanced terms.

#### ARGUMENT

#### <u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER F.S. 775.021(4) AUTHORIZES THE CONSECUTIVE IMPOSITION OF SEPARATE CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THOSE SENTENCES ARE ENHANCED, FOR EACH CRIMINAL OFFENSE COMMITTED BY A DEFENDANT?

In its jurisdictional brief, the State argued that the decision below should be reversed with regard to the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences and this Court should adopt the rationale set forth in Lifred v. State, 643 So. 2d 94 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) with which the lower court's decision Between the time the State asserted the existence of conflict jurisdiction and the case was accepted for briefing on the merits, this Court has issued numerous decisions which impact on, and in fact control, disposition of the instant case. State therefore urges this Court to resolve the conflict by adopting the decision of the Lifred Court, but also asserts that the Court should take the opportunity to clarify the law in this area and hold that F.S. 775.021(4) was clearly intended by the Legislature to authorize the imposition of consecutive multiple convictions and sentences for separate and distinct crimes, regardless of whether those crimes took place in one criminal

episode or whether those sentences carry enhancements or minimum mandatory terms.

#### F.S. 775.021(4) provides that:

- (a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other doe not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.
- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent.

  Exception to thus rule of construction are:
- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.
- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

The Legislature, by the clear terms of the statute, intended to grant the trial court the discretion to sentence defendants to consecutive sentences, so long as the criminal acts constituted one or more offense. Those statutory terms are entirely consistent with section 921.16(1), Florida Statutes, which grants

total discretion to the sentencing court on whether sentences shall be consecutively or concurrently imposed.

The first case to discuss the existence of any limitation on the trial court's authority to impose consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for firearms offenses was Palmer v. State, 438 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1983), in which this Court declined to construe F.S. 775.021 as providing for an unlimited right to impose consecutive mandatory minimums for multiple offenses arising within one criminal episode. Palmer, however, must be analyzed in terms of its highly unique factual circumstances. In that case, Palmer entered a funeral home,, and while brandishing a pistol, ordered thirteen of the mourners to throw their valuables on the floor. The Palmer Court, despite the absence of any language in F.S. 775.021 restricting the imposition of such sentences in multiple crimes involving the use of a firearm, nevertheless overruled the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory firearm sentences where the robberies took place in the same manner and the same time and place. Writing for a divided court, Justice McDonald indicated that imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for the thirteen robberies would limit the exclusive power of the executive branch to grant either

- 8 -

paroles or conditional releases under sentences for crimes, which is impermissible absent express statutory provision.

In his prescient dissent to <u>Palmer</u>, Justice Alderman disputed the conclusion that there was evidence to support the belief that the Legislature intended to impose limitations on a trial court's ability to impose consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for crimes where separate sentences were proper under F.S. 775.087(2), stating:

[h]ad Palmer committed thirteen separate robberies at thirteen separate houses, there would be no question that he could receive thirteen separate, consecutive, three-year mandatory minimum sentences. He should not be entitled to less than this merely because he committed the thirteen robberies in the same criminal episode. Certainly a defendant who commits multiple crimes should be punished more severely than one who commits only one crime. The legislature did not intend that crime be "cheaper by the dozen."  $438 \, \mathrm{So.} \, 2d$  at  $4^2$ .

Several years later, this Court again interpreted Section 775.087(2) in Thomas v. State, 487 So. 2d 1043, 1044 (Fla. 1986), but distinguished <u>Palmer</u> due to the existence of "two separate and distinct criminal offenses involving two separate and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The subsequent statutory amendments to section 775.021 are completely consistent with Justice Alderman's position. In this regard, see <u>State v. Smith</u>, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989).

distinct victims." The <u>Lifred</u> Court, relying upon this specific language relating to this distinguishing circumstance, found <u>Thomas</u> to be controlling.

Thomas was convicted of the attempted first degree murder of a woman and of the aggravated assault of her son. Consecutive minimum mandatory sentences for each of the offenses were imposed as a result of the use of a firearm. The facts revealed that Thomas first shot the woman four times in the bedroom of her trailer, before following her outside and shooting at her again as she fled. Thomas shot at the woman's son when he attempted to come to her aid and then shot the woman an additional two times.

The <u>Thomas</u> Court determined that under the facts of that case, it **believed** "the legislature intended that the trial court have discretion to impose consecutive or concurrently the mandatory minimum time served," 487 So. 2d at 1044, analogizing the circumstances of that case to the decision in <u>State v</u> Enmund.

476 so. 2d 165 (Fla. 1985). In <u>Enmund</u>, this Court approved

This language clearly motivated a similar result in <a href="Permenter v. State">Permenter v. State</a>, 635 So. 2d 1016, 1016-1017 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) in which consecutive minimum mandatory sentences were deemed proper in cases involving a single criminal transaction or episode where a defendant commits two separate and distinct offenses against two separate and distinct victims.

consecutive twenty-five year mandatory minimums for separate and distinct homicides arising from a robbery. The <u>Thomas</u> Court concluded that the legislative intent behind both section 775.087(2) and 775.082(1) was to vest trial courts with broad discretion to impose mandatory minimums concurrently or consecutively for separate and distinct offenses involving multiple victims.

The Lifred Court, discussing the Thomas case stated:

Thomas can be read broadly for the proposition that attempted murder of one victim and aggravated assault or battery of a second victim, or two separate shootings of two separate victims, constitute two separate and distinct offenses justifying the imposition of consecutive mandatory minimums. our sister courts have interpreted Thomas to require that for crimes against multiple victims to be separate and distinct, the crimes must be separated by time and place, and not solely by the distinct act of discharging a firearm against more than one victim, even though Thomas did not reiterate the separate time and place language of Palmer. See Gates v. State, 633 so. 2d 1158 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Woods v. State, 615 so. 2d 197 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Gardner v. State, 515 so. 2d 408 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Young v. State, 631 So. 2d 372 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); Preyer v. State, 575 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

We agree that in the case of a **single victim of multiple crimes** arising out of single criminal episode,
the analysis appropriately turns on whether offenses
subsequent to the initial offense are sufficiently
separated by time and place, as well as by nature of
the crimes and manner of commission. In that case, the
determination is whether each crime represents a
separate and additional violation of the victim's
rights, even if the entire criminal event arose out of

a single criminal episode. *Murray v. State, 491 So.* 2d 1120, 1124 (Fla. 1986); see e.g. Cox v. *State, 605 So.* 2d 978 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). However, in the case of multiple victims, there are, by definition, separate violations of each victim's rights.

An analysis barring imposition of stacked mandatory minimums, merely because the crimes against multiple victims are not separated by time and place, can lead to distinctions not fostering any stated legislative policy regarding restrictions on eligibility for parole. For example, we cannot see how a criminal who shoots three victims in the course of an armed robbery while the victims remain in the same location should be punished less severely than a criminal who shoots one victim three times at three separate locations.

Compare Woods and Kelly v. State, 552 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989), rev. denied, 563 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) with Young and Gardner.

Relying primarily upon our interpretation of *Thomas*, we hold that in the case of multiple victims, the primary factor triggering the imposition of consecutive mandatory minimums is whether the firearm has been discharged more than once to shoot those victims. An analysis of the nature of the crime, manner of commission, time and place may assist in the inquiry of whether qualitatively separate and distinct criminal acts occurred; but with discharges of the firearm to injure multiple victims, separation of time or place should not be dispositive.

In the case of armed robberies of multiple victims, as in Palmer, the firearm is used simultaneously and in the same manner to rob more than one person. However, discharge of a firearm in the course of an armed robbery changes the nature of the crime and manner of commission. With each successive discharge of the firearm at each additional victim, the firearm is being used separately and distinctly, and in a different manner.

We do not believe that the legislature, in enacting section 775.087(2), intended to restrict the sentence that a trial court may impose on a defendant such as Lifred to a mandatory minimum of three years for each victim he injured or attempted to kill, rather than two

mandatory minimums of three years as ordered in this case. This analysis is consistent with the reasoning of *Palmer*, *Thomas*, and *Murray*, which all address section 775.087(2). It also comports with the supreme court's discussion of the *Palmer* rationale in Downs v. *State*, **616** so. 2d 444 (Fla. 1993). There Justice McDonald, the author of *Palmer*, explained that:

Palmer robbed thirteen people simultaneously in a funeral home....

. . . .

In both Palmer and McGourik the minimum mandatory sentences addressed the same evils, using a firearm to commit simultaneous crimes in Palmer and using a destructive device . . . . in McGourik...

When the same crime is committed in a nonsimultaneous manner or when different crimes are committed in the same episode, minimum mandatory sentences can be consecutive.

Because the <u>Downs</u> opinion was authored by Justice McDonald, the author of <u>Palmer</u>, it offers great insight into the rationale which underlies that opinion. Downs was convicted of the murder of his estranged wife and the aggravated assault of witnesses to the crime. He received a life sentence with a minimum mandatory twenty-five year term for the murder and a consecutive three year minimum mandatory term for use of the firearm during the commission of the aggravated assaults, thus resulting his being required to served a total of twenty-eight years prior to becoming eligible for parole. The <u>Downs</u> Court rejected his contention that <u>Palmer</u> mandated reversal of the sentence, holding

that "[w] hen the same crime is committed in a nonsimultaneous manner or when different crimes are committed in the same episode, however, minimum mandatory sentences can be consecutive." 616 so. 2d at 445. While the Court noted that it would be improper to stack the minimum mandatory for use of a firearm to kill the victim with the capital minimum mandatory sentence, it "could see no reason why a trial court cannot, in its discretion, stack those minimum mandatory sentences. Id., at

The <u>Lifred</u> Court's conclusion is clearly in keeping with the recognition of this Court that the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory sentences is appropriate in certain circumstances. That court held that:

[u] nder the factual circumstances of this case, the trial court properly imposed consecutive mandatory minimums for the crimes of attempted murder and aggravated battery. The fact that the firearm was used not only to commit the armed robberies but was also discharged at two distinct victims located in different places (albeit in the same general vicinity) with at least some temporal break, constitutes two separate and distinct criminal acts against two separate and distinct victims as contemplated in Thomas. without significant temporal break or significant change in location, the nature of the crimes and manner of commission justifies stacking. We need not decide whether, even if the discharges of the firearm were seconds apart as in Gardner, or in virtually the same location as in Young, the discharges of the firearm at two victims would alone justify exercise of the trial

court's discretion, We believe, however, this result would be consistent with legislative intent and supreme court precedent. 643 So. 2d at 99.

The analysis urged by the <u>Lifred</u> Court is indeed keeping with supreme court precedent and the clearly stated legislative intent that separate crimes be sentenced separately. This conclusion is amply supported by recent decisions by this Court in <u>M.P. v.</u>

State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S433 (Fla. October 10, 1996), <u>Gaber v.</u>

State, No. 86,990 (Fla. December 12, 1996) and <u>Allen v. State</u>,

No. 87,941 (Fla. December 19, 1996).

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