WOOA

DH1

		IN TH	E SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLOR	RIDA	FILED SID J. WHITE
								JAN 28 1997
STATE O	F FLORIDA,							CLERK, SUPREME COURT
	Petitic	oner,		:				By Chief Deputy Clerk
v.				CZ	SE	NO.	88,78	1
LARRY L	EE CHRISTI	AN,						
	Respond	lent.		:				
				_/				

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0513253 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

	PAGE(S)

LARRY LEE CHRISTIAN,	:		
Respondent.	:		

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the state's appeal of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal <u>in Christian v. State,</u> So.2d _____, 21 Fla.L. Weekly D1835 (Fla. 1st DCA August 15, 1996).

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the state's statement of the case and facts as reasonably supported by the record. However, respondent adds some facts pertaining to the guilt issue, which he is raising as Issue II.

The First District Court said of the fight which precipitated the shootings:

. . .appellant's brother, Wesley, and the victim, Chad Ellis, engaged in an argument which quickly escalated into physical violence. The evidence indicated that the victim, Chad Ellis, threw the first punch, and was getting the better of appellant's brother up until the point at which appellant intervened.

-1-

Slip op. p.2. After Larry shot Chad, Pedro Bishop hit Larry, Larry hit Bishop on the head with the gun butt, they struggled, and Larry shot Bishop, while Bishop was on his knees, with his arms around Larry's legs. Bishop survived. Id. The court also noted that Keith Hampton tussled with Larry for possession of the gun and Dennis August approached with an upraised chair. Slip op., pp.2-3. The court did not mention it, but Hampton and August were friends of Ellis and Bishop.

Several of the state's witnesses had numerous prior felony convictions, while the Christian brothers did not. Keith Hampton had two convictions (T 62), Dennis August had "several" (T 174), and Pedro Bishop had 5 convictions plus pending charges (T 118,130). Neither Larry (T 330) nor his brother Wesley had any convictions (T 302). Moreover, Perry Police Officer Mike Anderson, presently a narcotics investigator, testified that both Ellis and Bishop had reputations in the community for violence (T 379-80).

At deposition, a female witness said Chad and a whole "gang" of those guys that hang with him and Pedro were involved in the incident. At trial, however, the witness denied using the word "gang" and said her deposition had been "altercated" (T 160-61). The parties stipulated it was accurate and the deposition was read to the jury (T 382-83).

According to Keith Hampton, friend of Ellis and Bishop, Wesley and Chad started arguing, although he could not hear the

-2-

conversation, then they started fighting (T 52). Chad took the first lick, that is, he hit Wesley first (T 53). Chad must have got in a good lick, because Wesley fell to the ground (T 54-55). Chad hit Wesley, then Wesley stumbled back, and Chad grabbed him and slammed him on the bricks (a brick half-wall), then Wesley fell to the ground, and Chad got on top of him (T 68-69). Wesley was trying to hit Chad, and Chad was just beating him. Then Larry walked around Pedro, pulled a gun out of his pants and shot Chad three times in the back (T 54-55).

Then Larry and Pedro Bishop got into an altercation which ended when Pedro was shot. Hampton knew of no trouble between the Christian brothers and Chad before that night (T 70-71). Pedro, who was also shot that night, testified he had known Larry for 4 or 5 years; they are not friends, but Pedro claimed he has had no difficulties or hard feelings toward him (T 102). When Larry ran out of the club, and away from Hampton and August, he left the gun on the floor (T 58-59). Of the people involved, only Larry was armed (T 59-60).

Larry's brother, Wesley, testified that Chad and Pedro walked over to where Larry was dancing and threw kicks and punches at him (which did not touch him). Wesley told them to stop it (T 288-90). Chad apparently did not appreciate this advice and hit Wesley once hard (T 290). After Chad hit him, Wesley was dazed. Chad grabbed him, hit him and threw him against the brick wall (T 291). Wesley said his head hit the brick wall, which made him dizzy and gave him a big headache.

-3-

Then Chad got on him and they went to tussling on the ground. That's when Pedro came over and kicked Wesley in the side of the head (T 293,295). Then the rest of them started coming over (T 293). Chad was hitting him in the chest, the ribs, the stomach, everywhere, with his fist, "full throttle" (T 294).

Dennis August also came over and tried to hit Wesley, but he could not get no licks in, because Chad was on top of Wesley. Keith did not hit him, but he was over there. Larry came over and told them to leave Wesley alone and get away from him. They wouldn't, so that's when Chad was shot (T 296). Wesley realized that Chad had been hit when he stopped moving. Wesley pushed him off. That's when he saw Pedro and Keith (Barn Barn) double teaming Larry. Both of them were hitting Larry and grabbed hold of him trying to put him down. So Wesley ran over and helped Larry (T 297).

Wesley went to the hospital that night, where his arm was x-rayed to see if any bones were broken (T 299). It was not broken, but his arm was so swollen he could not move it and he had a big knot on the side of his head. Wesley believes that, if Larry had not come to his rescue, they probably would have killed him, because it was all of them against him (T 301). Wesley has never been convicted of a crime involving dishonesty-Neither he nor Larry were drinking alcohol that night; Wesley does not drink (T 302).

Larry Christian testified in his own behalf. He did not know Chad or Keith before that night, but he had heard things

-4-

about both of them and seen things they had done, such as Chad jumping on a boy once, that made him afraid of both of them (T 328,336-37).

Earlier that day, Larry had taken the gun away from **a** friend of his, because the friend had been drinking (T 330). Then he forgot he had it, until it hit his leg while he was dancing. Larry does not have a gun, and he testified this was the first time he had ever touched a gun (T 330,347). Larry's account of having taken the gun away from a friend who was drunk was corroborated by another witness (T 361). Larry has never been convicted of a felony involving dishonesty (T 330-31). While he was dancing with Regina Powell, Larry glanced over his shoulder and saw Pedro and Chad throwing little hits at him like they were trying to hit and kick him (T 331-32). A little later, he saw Chad hit Wesley, grab him and sling him up against some bricks, then he slammed Wesley on the floor, and kept hitting him (T 333).

Then Pedro ran up and started kicking Wesley. Then Keith and Dennis were coming over there. By that time, Larry was already scared. Chad was on his brother. Larry tried to get him off, but that was not working (T 334). Chad hit Wesley on the face while Wesley lay on his back on the floor. Dennis was trying to get into it, and Barn Barn (Keith) was standing by Pedro (T 336). Larry told Chad to get off his brother, then he tried getting Chad off of him, but that was not working, so Larry got scared and pulled the gun and shot Chad. He thought

~5-

they were going to kill Wesley. He does not know completely what happened because after the first shot, he blanked out (T 337).

On cross, Larry said Chad punched Wesley in the face several times (T 342). Larry has no reason to carry a gun around, because he gets along with everybody. He does not have hard feelings against anybody (T 348).

Dr. Umesh Mhatre, a psychiatrist, examined Larry and took a history. Larry's parents separated when he was 2, and he was raised mostly by his mother and his brother, to whom he is more attached, like a father figure. He was a below average student in high school (T 462). He attempted an overdose two years ago, and now he is depressed (T 463). Dr. Scott, a psychologist in Tallahassee, did an IQ test (T 464). Larry has a full scale IQ of 82 (T 466-67). He was probably in the lowest 5% of his high school class. Above 85-90 is normal; below.70 is definite mental retardation; 70-85 is borderline (T 467). On the MMPI, Larry scores as a passive-dependent personality. He has a high score on paranoia, meaning he is more suspicious than an average person (T 470). The diagnosis means Larry cannot depend upon himself for self-esteem and performance; he is a follower not a leader (T 471).

Given a hypothetical question with the facts of this case, Mhatre stated his opinion that Larry probably felt extremely intimidated, did not know how to deal with the situation, and felt a considerable amount of anxiety; and he did not have much

-6-

time to react (T 474). The situation needed someone who was able to think quickly, who could intervene with diplomacy and verbal skills to talk people out of things, and Larry does not have those skills. You also have to be self-assured and selfconfident, and Larry is not. It would be like dealing with a fire that breaks out, and you do not have the skills to know what to do. People can react impulsively out of fear (T 475-76).

Personality and IQ will influence your ability to make that quick decision. When you panic, you do not use your better judgment (T 477). That's basically what happened to Larry. Larry's perceptions matched the hypothetical, except that Larry felt, for a brief time, that he did not remember anything that happened, and this gave Mhatre an idea of the high level of his anxiety or panic, that is, it is consistent with a person who did not have the resources to deal with the rapidly deteriorating situation (T 478-79). Larry's fear and anxiety would have been even greater after the first shooting, that is, at the time he encountered Pedro Bishop (T 479-80).

On cross, the prosecutor disputed the borderline intelligence, because Scott had characterized it as "low-average." Asked if a diagnosis of dependent personality is discouraged in adolescents, Mhatre said that everybody agrees your personality is not completely formed until you turn 18, but by the time a person is 16 or 17, it very much has gone in the direction it will take in the adult (T 485-86). Scott's exact words were

-7-

that he felt very comfortable with that diagnosis. Mhatre took this to mean that Larry's symptoms were pronounced and jumping out at him (T 486).

The state called Dr. Royce Jackson, a psychiatrist, 20% of whose work is forensic, in rebuttal (T 508-10). Jackson characterized an IQ of 82 as "low-normal," per the manual of the American Psychiatry Association and the Mental Retardation Foundation: 55-70 is mild mental retardation; 70-75 is borderline; 80 and above is low-normal (T 510-11).

Jackson found no basis in Scott's report for a diagnosis of passive-dependent personality. The diagnosis requires 5 of 9 features and in the reports, none of the 9 are mentioned directly. Further, you cannot make a diagnosis on a teenager on the MMPI, because their personality is still being formed (T 512). According to Jackson, most teenagers do not understand the test and have some elevation under the lie score. He would say Larry probably did not understand a lot of the test, not necessarily because of his IQ, but because of his age (T 513). A passive-dependent personality disorder would not predispose a person to be violent (T 514).

Jackson discussed the 9 characteristics on cross, e.g., 1) unable to make everyday decisions without an excessive amount of advice or reassurance from others; 2) allows others to make most of his very important decisions, where to live, what job to take; 3) he **agrees** with people even when he or she believes they are wrong, because of fear of being rejected or not liked;

-8-

4) difficulty initiating projects or doing things on his own, etc. (T 515-16). Asked if it would be fair to say that an adolescent's coping skills are not as good as those of an adult, Jackson said, "Oh, absolutely" (T 517).

III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Issue I:</u> The state argues that section 775.021(4) permits the 3-year firearm minimum mandatory to be stacked when two people are shot in a single criminal episode. This argument is contrary to this court's decision in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>infra</u>, which rejected multiple victims as the relevant criterion, and without support in **caselaw**, except for a discussion by the Fourth District in <u>Lifred v. State</u>, <u>infra</u>. <u>Lifred</u>'s discussion is mistaken and even the Fourth relied on it only in part.

The state's claim that section 775.021(4) supports its position was rejected by this court 13 years ago in <u>Palmer</u> and should be rejected again.

There is no question but that there is a sub-Issue II: stantial element of defense of another and self-defense in this The question for the jury was not whether Larry was juscase. tified in using any force, because some force was clearly justified. Rather, the only question for the jury was whether he was justified in using deadly force. For purposes of this argument, counsel concedes that the jury could reasonably find that Larry's brother was only in danger of being beaten, not killed, therefore it could find the use of deadly force exces-Where some force is justified, but the defendant uses sive. excessive force to defend himself or another, as a matter of law, the crime that results is manslaughter, not second-degree murder. Thus, petitioner's conviction must be reduced to manslaughter.

-10-

IV ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER SECTION 775.021(4) FLORIDA STA-TUTES, AUTHORIZES IMPOSITION OF CONSECU-TIVE 3-YEAR FIREARM MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCES, FOR CRIMES COMMITTED AGAINST TWO VICTIMS IN A SINGLE CRIMINAL EPISODE, GIVEN THIS COURT'S PROHIBITION OF CONSE-CUTIVE MANDATORY MINIMUM SENTENCES IN PALMER V. STATE, 438 SO.2D 1 (FLA. 1983)? (restated)

The state claims that section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes, permits both the sentences imposed on multiple convictions from a single criminal episode involving two victims and also the enhancements to the sentences to be imposed consecutively. The specific enhancement at issue here is the 3-year minimum mandatory for use of a firearm. The state's assertion is contrary to a substantial amount of precedent from the district courts of appeal and this court. The state finds some support for its views, however, in the Fourth District Court opinion in Lifred v. State, 643 So.2d 94 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (en banc), and thus claims Lifred conflicts with the opinion of the First District Court of Appeal below, Christian V. State, So.2d ____ 21 Fla.L. Weekly D1835 (Fla. 1st DCA August 15, 1996). Respondent contends, however, that his case is factually distinguishable from Lifred, and the decision of the district court should be affirmed.

Respondent wishes to frame the issue more simply if possible. In 1983, in <u>Palmer v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983), this court held the 3-year mandatory minimum sentences for use

-11-

of a firearm could not be imposed consecutively, where the defendant committed robbed 13 people in a funeral home. That is, he committed crimes against multiple victims in a single criminal episode. The state's position, supported by <u>Lifred</u>, is that <u>Palmer's prohibition against consecutive mandatory</u> minimum sentences does not apply to respondent, Larry Christian, because he shot the two victims here.

The state is making essentially the same claim now that this court rejected 13 years ago in <u>Palmer</u>. This court should again reject the claim. In <u>Palmer</u>, the court noted that section 775.087(2), provides that any person who has in his possession a firearm during the commission of certain enumerated felonies, murder and aggravated battery among them, shall be sentenced to a minimum term of imprisonment of three calendar years. Section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981),

requires separate sentences for separate offenses arising from a single criminal transaction or episode and allows the trial court to order the sentences served concurrently or consecutively. (footnote omitted)

Palmer, 438 So.2d at 3. The court continued:

The state contends that these two sections, when read in pari materia, allow the "stacking" of consecutive mandatory three-year minimum sentences. We disagree.

<u>Iđ.</u>

•

٩.

In reaching this conclusion, the court relied in part upon a "fundamental rule of statutory construction, i.e., that criminal statutes shall be strictly construed in favor of the person against whom the penalty is to be imposed." Id. The

court concluded:

Nowhere in the language of section 775.087 do we find express authority by which a trial court may deny, under subsection 775.087(2), a defendant eligibility for parole for a period greater than three calendar years.

Id.

Contrary to the state's argument, the language of section 775.021(4) concerning consecutive sentences has not changed since <u>Palmer</u> was decided. This court has recognized this:

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